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C-M(2021)0029-REV1-AS1 

 

 

 
IBAN AUDITOR’S REPORTS AND LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR STATEMENTS OF DCPS, IS, 

MSIAC, NCPS, NFO, NNHQ, RMCF 

 

ACTION SHEET 
 
 
 

 On 7 December 2021, under the silence procedure, the Council noted the RPPB 
report, agreed its conclusions and recommendations, and agreed to the public disclosure of 
the report, the IBAN Auditor’s Reports and Letters of Observations and Recommendations 
and associated 2019 financial statements of DCPS, IS, MSIAC, NCPS, NFO, NNHQ and 
RMCF. 

 

 
 

(Signed) Jens Stoltenberg 

Secretary General 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

NOTE:  This Action Sheet is part of, and shall be attached to C-M(2021)0029-REV1. 
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IBAN AUDITOR’S REPORTS AND LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE 2019 FINANCIAL YEAR STATEMENTS OF DCPS, IS, 
MSIAC, NCPS, NFO, NNHQ, RMCF 

 
 

Note by the Secretary General 
 
 

CORRIGENDUM 
 
 Please find attached the IBAN audit reports and financial statements with the correct 
headings. 
 

 
 

(Signed)  Jens Stoltenberg 
 
 

  
Enclosure 1: IBAN audit reports + financial 

statements 
  
  
   Original: English 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the NATO Defined 
Contribution Pension Scheme’s (DCPS) Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0010 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO DCPS and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
 

 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 

Enclosure to 
C-M(2021)0029-REV1-COR1
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS)  

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Defined 
Contribution Pension Scheme (DCPS), which is a money purchase pension scheme 
that includes contributions from staff recruited on or after 1 July 2005 as well as 
employer contributions from NATO. The value of the NATO DCPS’s net assets 
available for benefits at 31 December 2019 was EUR 524.53 million (at the end of 
2018, EUR 408.39 million). The DCPS had 4,352 members at 31 December 2019 (at 
the end of 2018, 3,974 members).  
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
During the audit, IBAN made no observations. 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one was closed and one remains in progress. 
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
issued to the International Staff whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3. 
  
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme management. This is 
because IBAN considers that these matters are to be addressed by Management and 
therefore fall under NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme’s executive 
responsibility. 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  
THE NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 

  
(DCPS) 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme, for the 12 month 
period ended 31 December 2019, issued and submitted to IBAN on 21 April 2020. 
These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Net Assets Available for 
Benefits as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available 
for Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2019 and the Explanatory Notes, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme 
as at 31 December 2019, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for 
Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework (NAF) and International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and 
Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans.  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are drawn up 
in accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with 
the NATO Accounting Framework as approved by the Council and International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans. 
The Financial Controller is responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit 
to IBAN not later than 31st March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
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omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME 
 

(DCPS) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Defined 
Contribution Pension Scheme Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019, and issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and an unqualified 
opinion on compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made no observations.   
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one was closed and one remains in progress.   
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit, as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme management. This is 
because IBAN considers that these matters are to be addressed by Management and 
therefore fall under the NATO Defined Contribution Pension Scheme’s executive 
responsibility.  
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 

 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) NATO DCPS FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2016)28, paragraph 3 
 
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT 
A RECEIVABLE AND PROVISION IN THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends the Secretary 
General, responsible for the administration 
and management of the DCPS, review this 
situation as soon as possible in order to 
clarify NATO’s agreement to this proposed 
compensation, which NATO reporting entity 
has the right to it, and, if received, who the 
funds should ultimately be returned to (e.g. 
nations, DCPS participants, etc.).  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In December 2018, the Secretary General 
recommended that one third of the 
compensatory payment from the Insurer 
(EUR 1.726 million) should be distributed to 
those affiliates who actively contributed to 
the major risk insurance during 1 January 
2012 and 31 December 2015. This amount 
was paid by the Insurer to DCPS in May 
2019. The payments to the affiliates are still 
ongoing as they are being made in tranches 
since 2019. In the 2019 IS Statement of 
Financial Position, the remaining balance to 
be paid to the affiliates was presented as a 
payable (EUR 0.687 million). 
 
As per BC-DS(2019)0067 (INV) the Budget 
Committee decided that the employers’ 
contributions share of the Insurer’s 
compensatory payment shall be returned to 
the respective NATO Reporting Entities 
(EUR 4.274 million). In the 2019 IS 
Statement of Financial Position, this was no 
longer considered an Asset / Liability of 
DCPS, since it was a pass-through cash-
flow to be recognised as a receivable from 
the Insurer by the relevant NATO Reporting 
Entities. This amount was paid by the 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

Insurer to DCPS in February and April 2020. 
Therefore, the subsequent disbursement to 
the NATO Reporting Entities was initiated in 
2020. The status will be reassessed as part 
of the audit of the 2020 Financial 
Statements. 
 

(2) NATO DCPS FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2016)28, paragraph 7 
 
UNCLEAR FOREIGN CURRENCY 
CONVERSION POLICY 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends developing and 
implementing a comprehensive policy on 
the accounting and reporting of 
transactions, stated in foreign currencies. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NATO IS implemented 
FC(FAC)(2020)004_FC - OFC Policy 
Accounting Reporting Transactions in 
Foreign Currency. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
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NATO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEME (DCPS)  
FORMAL COMMENTS 

ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  
THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 

 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) NATO DCPS 2015 FY 
IBA-AR(2016)28, paragraph 3 
INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A RECEIVABLE AND PROVISION IN 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
DCPS’ Formal Comments 
 

Do not agree. 
 
In 2019 Financial Statements, the receivable and provision were presented on 
the basis of complete documentation received from Allianz and in line with the 
Nations decisions.  
 
The OFC IS proposes to consider this observation closed. 
 

IBAN’s Position 
  
IBAN maintains the status of its recommendation, which is considered in-
progress as the payments to the affiliates, which are being made in tranches 
since 2019, are still ongoing. In addition, the subsequent disbursement to the 
NATO Reporting Entities was initiated in 2020. The status will be reassessed as 
part of the audit of the 2020 Financial Statements. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the International 
Staff’s (IS) Restated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0013 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Restated Financial 
Statements of the International Staff and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
 

 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 
on the audit of the Restated Financial Statements of the 

International Staff (IS) 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
The International Staff (IS) supports the work of the North Atlantic Council and its 
Committees.  The total expenses disclosed in the 2019 Restated Financial Statements 
was EUR 278 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations which do not impact the audit opinion: 
 

1. Improvements in the control of budgetary adjustments. 
 

2. Accounting misstatement in the reversal of provision for untaken leave. 
 

3. Unreconciled Cash and cash equivalents. 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that four were closed and two remain in progress. 
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
issued to the IS whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s position on 
those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3. 

 

The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to International Staff management. This is because IBAN considers that 
these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under 
International Staff’s management responsibility. 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE RESTATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

INTERNATIONAL STAFF  
 

(IS) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Restated 
Financial Statements of the International Staff (IS), for the 12 month period ended 
31 December 2019, issued under document reference FC(2020)0044-REV1, and 
submitted to IBAN on 19 June 2020. These Restated Financial Statements comprise 
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of 
Financial Performance, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the 
Statement of Cash Flow, for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2019, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. In addition, 
the Restated Financial Statements include a budget execution report for the 12 month 
period ended 31 December 2019.  
 
In our opinion the Restated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the International Staff (IS) as at 31 December 2019, and of its 
financial performance, its cash flows and budget execution for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with accounting requirements and reporting 
standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of the International Staff (IS) are drawn up in accordance with 
accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 2 
IBA-AR(2021)0013 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
2-4 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Restated Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds 
have not been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not 
in compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) and the NATO Civilian 
Personnel Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE INTERNATIONAL STAFF 
 

(IS) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the International Staff 
(IS) Restated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, and issued 
an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and an unqualified opinion on 
compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These 
observations do not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and on 
compliance: 
 

1. Improvements in the control of budgetary adjustments 
 
2. Accounting misstatement in the reversal of provision for untaken leave 
 
3. Unreconciled Cash and cash equivalents 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that four were closed, and two remain in progress.   
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to the International Staff (IS) management. This is because IBAN considers 
that these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under the 
International Staff (IS) executive responsibility.  
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. IMPROVEMENTS IN THE CONTROL OF BUDGETARY ADJUSTMENTS 
 
Reasoning  
 
1.1 Section II Article 6 of the NFRs regarding responsibilities of the Financial 
Controller, states that: “The Secretary General, the Supreme Commanders and the 
other Heads of NATO bodies shall have a Financial Controller on their staffs to be their 
principal financial advisor and who exercises in their names responsibilities for, but not 
limited to:  

a) the budgeting, accounting and reporting activities of the NATO body;  
b) ensuring adherence to the principles of sound financial management as laid 
down in article 4;  
c) the responsibility for the organisation and administration of the financial 
internal control system established pursuant to article 12.1.”  

 
1.2 Furthermore NFR Article12.2 states that: “In order to meet the desired internal 
control standards the Financial Controller shall:  

a) establish a system of internal financial and budgetary control, embracing all 
aspects of financial management including transactions for which 
appropriations have been approved and those funded from such non-
appropriated fund accounts as they may authorise within their jurisdiction.”  

 
Observations 
 
1.3 The Civil Budget is managed using the budget information system Hyperion. 
Once the Civil Budget is approved, the budget figures are interfaced to the Enterprise 
Resource Planning (ERP) system. The Civil Budget contains the NATO Coordinated 
Pension Scheme (Defined Benefit Pension Scheme) budget contribution, but it is not 
part of the NATO IS core budget. The IS Office of Financial Control (IS-OFC) therefore 
needs to review budgetary postings in the ERP system and complete a final manual 
step to exclude the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme budget in the system, if 
necessary.  
 
1.4 On 11 June 2020, IS-OFC informed IBAN about its intention to restate 2019 
IS Financial Statements. One of the reason for this restatement was that the Budget 
Execution Statement needed to be corrected in order to reflect a Civil Budget decrease 
approved in the 2019 budget (BC-D(2019)0213 (INV)). This decrease had not been 
properly uploaded to the ERP system as a budgetary reduction because the final 
manual step to exclude the Defined Budget Pension Scheme budget was not 
performed in the system by the IS-OFC.  
 
1.5 Although the respective budgetary adjustment was approved by the Budget 
Committee in October 2019 (BC transfer (BC-D(2019)0213 (INV)), the error in the ERP 
system was only discovered in April 2020 after the issuance of the financial 
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statements, which led IS-OFC to restate the Financial Statements. Moreover, the 
actual correction took place in the ERP system on 14 July 2020.  
 
Recommendations 
 
1.6 IBAN recommends the IS-OFC to: 
 

a) Establish documented internal control procedures that ensure that budgetary 
adjustments are correctly recorded in the ERP system.  
 

b) Establish a documented reconciliation of year-end information reported in the 
Budget Execution Statement with supporting information provided in the 
budget information system Hyperion.  
 

c) Implement further technical solutions in order to eliminate manual 
interventions in the ERP system.  

 
 
2. ACCOUNTING MISSTATEMENT IN THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR 

UNTAKEN LEAVE 
 
Reasoning  
 
2.1 IPSAS 19 states that “Provisions should be reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required 
to settle the obligation, the provision should be reversed.” 
 
2.2 Consequently, the total or partial reversal of a provision implies the 
unrecognition of the corresponding liability in expenses (and revenue) for which the 
provision was initially recognised. 
 
2.3 Accordingly, the Statement of Financial Performance must reflect the net flows 
related to the change in provisions between two consecutive years. 
 
Observations 
 
2.4 In 2019, IS booked expenses related to the total year-end provision for 
untaken leave amounting to EUR 2,037,072. In 2018, this year-end provision and 
expense amounted to EUR 1,966,535. IS correctly reversed the prior year’s provision 
in the Statement of Financial Position in accordance with its accounting policy. 
However, IS did not recognise the counterpart of this reversal of provision in the 
Statement of Financial Performance amounting to EUR 1,966,535.  
 
2.5 As a result, expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance do not reflect 
the change in provision for untaken leave, which was in 2019 an increase of 
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EUR 70,537 and not an increase of EUR 2,037,072. The expenses in the Statement 
of Financial Performance are therefore overstated by EUR 1,966,535. Furthermore, 
as IS recognises revenues to compensate for expenses related to the provision for 
untaken leave, revenues are also overstated by the same amount.  
 
Recommendations 
 
2.6 IBAN recommends that IS recognise, in the Statement of Financial 
Performance in accordance with its accounting policy, the reversal of the previous 
year's provisions for Untaken Leave.  
 
 
3. UNRECONCILED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 
Reasoning  
 
3.1 According to article 17.1 of NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs) “The 
Secretary General, the Supreme Commanders, Subordinate Commanders 
by delegation and the senior responsible officers of other NATO bodies through the 
Financial Controller (as assigned in article 6) may, after full investigation, authorise the 
write-off of losses of cash, stores and other assets up to the amounts prescribed in the 
Financial Rules and Procedures approved by the relevant finance committee pursuant 
to article 4.4.” 
 
3.2 Paragraph 4 c) of Financial Rules and Procedures (FRP) VI states that:   
“The Financial Controller shall ensure that: all accounts are reconciled and verified on 
a regular basis, and all activities with financial implications, including multinational and 
non-appropriated fund activities, controlled by periodic inspection (…)” 
  
3.3 As per subsection 5.5.5.4 of Satellite Offices Handbook “Month-end petty cash 
balances should be no more than EUR 500 and should be zero on 31 December of 
each year”.  
 
Observations 
 
3.4 While testing IS Cash and cash equivalents we found net differences of 
EUR 45,425 between the amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
and the amounts reported by NATO Satellite Offices (NASO). 

 

3.5 These differences are due to the fact that a transaction was recorded with a 
2020 General Ledger date instead of a 2019 date. As a result both the cash holdings 
and liabilities are overstated by EUR 45,425 in the Statement of Financial Position. 
  
3.6 We found several instances where the NASO month-end petty cash balances 
exceed the EUR 500 ceiling specified in the Satellite Offices Handbook. 
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3.7 In addition, although all NASO Petty Cash balances should be zero on 
31 December each year, 10 NASO Petty Cash accounts had balances ranging from 
EUR 4.55 to 5,224.77 on 31 December 2019. 
  
3.8 Finally, the Petty Cash account 570104 showed EUR 792 of losses of cash in 
September 2015. This amount was not written off and approved by the IS Financial 
Controller in line with the NFRs.  
 
Recommendations 
 
3.9 IBAN recommends that IS should: 
 

a) Verify the amounts reported by NATO Satellite Offices before the issuance of 
the financial statements. 

 
b) Ensure that the month-end petty cash balances of NATO Satellite Offices do 

not exceed the EUR 500 ceiling and are zero on 31 December each year. 
 
c) Write-off the loss in petty cash Account n° 570104, after a full investigation as 

required by article 17 of the NFRs. 
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 

 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) IS FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 1.9 
 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE 
AREA OF RISK MANAGEMENT, 
INTERNAL CONTROLS AND INTERNAL 
AUDIT 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that, as a matter of 
priority, the IS ensure that it complies with 
all the requirements of the new NFRs and 
FRPs, namely on Risk Management and 
Internal Control.  This should include, but 
not be limited to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Completing the entity-wide risk 
management policy throughout 
the IS and developing a 
consolidated risk register 
covering all cross-functional 
interdependencies.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In 2019 IS has taken the 
following actions: 
 - The internal control officer 
post was created and filled. 
 - The Office of Internal Audit 
and Risk Management 
(OIARM) was created and is 
currently fully staffed.  
 - COSO was selected as an 
internal control (IC) framework.  
 - IC self-assessment exercise 
was put in place together 
(beginning of 2019) with a 
periodic assessment.  
 - High-level risk register was 
completed  
 - Risk Management draft 
policy is being completed and 
in progress.  
 
However the entity-wide risk 
management policy throughout 
the IS and a consolidated risk 
register covering all cross-
functional interdependencies is 
still ongoing. 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

 Assessing and documenting the 
system of internal control and risk 
management to support 
compliance with the NFRs and 
FRPs. 

 
 

 Performing audits by the Internal 
Audit Service in view of 
evaluating the appropriateness, 
quality and effectiveness of 
internal control and risk 
management throughout the IS.   

 

The work related to assessing 
and documenting the system of 
internal control and risk 
management to support 
compliance with the NFRs and 
FRPs is ongoing 
 
Audits by OIARM of evaluating 
the appropriateness, quality 
and effectiveness of internal 
control and risk management 
throughout the IS are in 
development. 

(2) IS FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 2.9 
 
IMPROVEMENTS NEEDED IN THE 
STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that NATO IS improve 
the Statement of Internal Control by 
ensuring that that it covers in a 
comprehensive manner all requirements of 
Article 12 of the Financial Rules of 
Procedures and explicitly discloses when a 
confirmation is not possible.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IS addressed, in the Statement 
of Internal Controls for 2019, all 
requirements of Article 12.  
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
 
 
 

(3) IS FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 3.4 
 
YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS 
BETWEEN NATO ENTITIES 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS formalise 
effective procedures in order to confirm the 
outstanding asset and liability balances it 
has with other NATO bodies as part of the 
preparation of the financial statements. In 
case of discrepancies, the IS should 
organise a reconciliation meeting with other 
NATO Bodies, in order to clarify any 
outstanding items. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IBAN noted some 
improvements as IS-OFC 
requested End of year 
Accounts Payable and 
Accounts Receivable balance 
confirmations from the main 
NATO Reporting Entities.  The 
information provided was then 
reconciled with a list of invoices 
in a table.   
 
A reconciliation with the 
Accounts Payable Reports as 
extracted from the ERP was 
not provided.  
 
No formal year-end 

 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

confirmation process between 
NATO Reporting Entities exists 
yet. 
 

(4) IS FY 2017 
IBA-AR(2018)0028, paragraph 2.3 
 
LATE ISSUANCE OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The late issuance of the financial 
statements resulted in a qualification on 
compliance for the 2017 IS Financial 
Statements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2019 Financial Statements 
were submitted on 27 April 
2020, a reasonable delay due 
to the unprecedented situation 
caused by the COVID-19 
outbreak as communicated by 
the IS OFC (FC(2020)0052, 
dated 27 Mar 2020). 
 

 
 
 
Observation  
Closed. 

(5)  IS FY 2016 
IBA-AR(2018)40, paragraph 2.2  
 
ERRORS IN THE CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends that the IS ensure 
that the 2018 Cash Flow Statements is 
arithmetically correct, complies with IPSAS 
2, and can be reconciled to movements on 
the Statements of Financial Position and 
Performance. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No errors found in the Cash 
Flow Statements.  

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
 
 
 

(6) IS FY 2010 
IBA-AR(2012)08, Paragraph 5.2  
 
ACCOUNTING FOR FUNDS RELATING 
TO THE FORMER NATO HAWK 
PRODUCTION AND LOGISTICS 
ORGANIZATION 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends that the IS 
determine the best method to account and 
disclose the assets and liabilities and 
movement of funds during the year of the 
former NHMO. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A Special Report was prepared 
by the IS OFC and issued to 
IBAN on the Financial 
Operations related to the 
Financial Closure of the former 
NATO HAWK Management 
Office 1 July 2010 – 31 
December 2016 
(FC(2019)00133). IBAN 
reviewed the information 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

provided in this Special Report 
and confirms that balances 
reported in the IS 2019 
Restated Financial Statements 
are fairly presented in 
accordance with the NATO 
Accounting Framework and 
nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to 
believe that these balances are 
not in compliance with the 
NFRs.   
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THE INTERNATIONAL STAFF (IS) FORMAL COMMENTS 
ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  

THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
IMPROVEMENTS IN THE CONTROL OF BUDGETARY ADJUSTMENTS 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 

 
The observation which has triggered the recommendation was resolved 
during2020. The write-back of the budget from Hyperion to E-Business Suite 
no longer includes the DBPS budget, hence the manual step to exclude DBPS 
figures is no longer needed.  
 
The IS agrees that the manual interventions in the ERP system should be 
avoided and the internal control procedures should be adequate. There is a 
permanent process of improvements and developments of the technical and 
formal solutions, highly dependent on the available resources. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 2: 
ACCOUNTING MISSTATEMENT IN THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR 
UNTAKEN LEAVE 
  
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
Error has been corrected in the 2020 Financial Statements. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 3: 
UNRECONCILED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 
IS’ Formal Comments 

 
Agreed. 

 
a) The NATO IS further improved the NATO Satellite Offices reporting quality 
during the end of the year closure process of 2020. 

 
b) OFC will take the recommendation under consideration and revise current 
procedures and/or practices.  
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c) The write off in line with procedures has taken place.  
 
 

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) IS 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 1.9 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE AREA OF RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL 
CONTROLS AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 

IS notes that due to the limited resources of OIARM, with two auditors who 
are also supporting the development of the risk management framework in the 
IS, the OIARM cannot audit the appropriateness and effectiveness of the 
NATO IS risk management framework. 
 
 

(3) IS FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0020, paragraph 3.4 
YEAR-END CONFIRMATIONS BETWEEN NATO ENTITIES 
 
IS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 

The NATO IS further improved the NATO entity reconciliations process during 
the end of the year closure process of 2020.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a matter 
other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the audit, the auditor’s 
responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an Other Matter paragraph in 
the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Chairman, MSIAC Steering Committee  
 Project Manager, MSIAC 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the Munitions Safety 
Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0007 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

 
Daniela Morgante  
Chair 

 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
The Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) provides a focal point 
within NATO to assist national and NATO munitions development programmes.  The 
MSIAC project is directed and administered by a Steering Committee and a Project 
Manager. Budget authorisations for the year 2019 (including amounts brought 
forward) amounted to EUR 1.76 million, while budget expenditure amounted to 
EUR 1.72 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019.   
 
During the audit, IBAN made no observations.  
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from previous years’ audits and found 
that one was closed and one remains in progress. 
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
issued to the International Staff whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3. 
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to MSIAC management. This is because IBAN considers that these matters 
are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under MSIAC’s management 
responsibility. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 2 
IBA-AR(2021)0007 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
2-1 

4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

MUNITIONS SAFETY INFORMATION ANALYSIS CENTER 
 

(MSIAC) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of Munitions Safety Information Analysis Center (MSIAC), for the 
12 month period ended 31 December 2019, issued under document reference 
FC(2020)0016, and submitted to IBAN on 31 March 2020. These Financial 
Statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019, 
the Statement of Financial Performance, the Statement of Changes in Net 
Assets/Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow, for the 12 month period ended 
31 December 2019, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes. In addition, the Financial Statements include a Budget Execution 
Statement for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2019.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of MSIAC as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance, its cash 
flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2019, in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of MSIAC are drawn up in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity 
(MSIAC’s Project Manager) and the Financial Controller. In signing the Financial 
Statements, the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm 
the establishment and maintenance of financial governance, resource management 
practices, internal controls and financial information systems to achieve the efficient 
and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
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omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
 
  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 2 
IBA-AR(2021)0007 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
2-5 

Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Project Manager is responsible and accountable for sound financial management. 
The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must incorporate the 
principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, risk 
management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud prevention 
and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE MUNITIONS SAFETY INFORMATION ANALYSIS CENTER 
 

(MSIAC) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the Munitions Safety 
Information Analysis Center (MSIAC) Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2019, and issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and 
an unqualified opinion on compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made no observations.   

 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one was closed and one remains in-progress.   
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit, as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to MSIAC’s management. This is because IBAN considers that these 
matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under MSIAC’s 
executive responsibility.  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 3 
IBA-AR(2021)0007 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
3-3 

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) MSIAC FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 1 
 
USE OF A MANAGEMENT RESERVE 
FUND NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS (NFRS) 
 
IBAN’s recommendation 
The Board recommends that MSIAC 
comply with Article 29.3 of the NFRs and 
restrict currency holdings to the minimum to 
meet forecast payments prior to receipt of 
the following contribution instalment. 
Alternatively, if the MSIAC Steering 
Committee continues to believe that such a 
management reserve is necessary, a 
request for deviation from Articles 24.2 and 
29.3 of the NFRs should be made to 
Council. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In February 2020, the NATO IS Financial 
Controller and MSIAC’s Project Manager 
submitted a request for the approval of the 
deviation from Articles 24.2 and 29.3 of the 
NFRs to the RPPB. According to C-
M(2020)0012-AS1 Action Sheet on the 
IBAN Auditor's Report on the audit of the 
2018 Financial Statements of MSIAC, on 28 
May 2020, under the silence procedure, the 
Council noted the RPPB report. In addition, 
the Council agreed the RPPB report’s 
conclusions and recommendations to 
approve a deviation from Articles 24.2 and 
29.3 of the NFRs to regularise the use of 
MSIAC accumulated surpluses in an 
emergency fund and as an operational 
reserve up to a limit of EUR 650,000. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
 
 
 

(2) MSIAC FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 6 
 
EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY 
THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
IBAN’s recommendations 
The Board recommends that MSIAC: 
 
a) Issues a risk management policy and 
that risk registers are developed and 
employed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) As required by FRP XII 3) (e), chooses a 
specific internal control framework that it 
will use to assess its system of internal 
control. The assessment is required by 
Article 12 of the NFRs. Since other NATO 
entities, including ACT and NAPMA, have 
already adopted COSO as their internal 
control framework, and it is a framework 
that can be used by entities of all sizes, 
MSIAC should consider adopting COSO as 
their internal control framework. 
 
c) In coordination with the International 
Staff where applicable, begins the work of 
assessing and documenting the system of 
internal control and risk management 
procedures to support compliance with 
NFR Articles 11 and 12, FRPs XI and XII, 
and the internal control framework that it 
chooses. 
 
 
 
d) Through outsourcing if considered to be 
more cost effective, ensure internal audit 
activities are evaluating MSIAC risk 
management and internal control. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
a) MSIAC has not issued a risk 
management policy, but considers its 
Standing Instructions to address the 
necessary requirements. MSIAC’s Steering 
Committee reviewed the Standing 
Instructions in the fall of 2020 and the 
Project Manager will make the final 
necessary updates. 
 
MSIAC’s Standing Instructions Section 2 
Planning and Reporting only addresses the 
policy of maintaining a risk register. The 
Risk Register was prepared by the MSIAC 
Strategic Planning Group (MSPG) and 
approved and reviewed by the Steering 
Committee. The Risk Register is 
maintained and updated by the MSPG. 
MSIAC still needs to implement a risk 
management policy.  
Observation: In-progress. 
 
b) In January 2020 MSIAC adopted the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of 
the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
Integrated Framework (2013).  
Observation: Closed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) MSIAC made a detailed assessment of 
how it met the requirements of the 17 
COSO Integrated Framework principles. 
This assessment revealed no material 
shortcomings in MSIAC’s process of 
internal control.  However, MSIAC has yet 
to assess and document the risk 
management procedures after their 
issuance. 
Observation: In-progress. 
 
d) No internal audits have been performed 
so far. However, MSIAC conducts regular 
internal reviews related to operations, 
business activities, progress against the 
Work Plan, strategic direction, budget and 
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spending plan.  This has been done twice 
since January 2020 to support Steering 
Committee meetings, as they provide direct 
supervision and approval for all MSIAC 
activities. 
 
For other processes such as financial 
reporting and compliance, given the relative 
small size of MSIAC and the broader 
perspective of the NATO IS Office of the 
Financial Controller (OFC), there are 
periodic reviews of the processes in place 
between the MSIAC Project Manager and 
NATO IS OFC. MSIAC considers that these 
are sufficient to ensure that the level of 
internal control adopted is adequate to the 
size and complexity of the organisation.  In 
addition, MSIAC considers that it is not 
practicable for MSIAC to conduct 
independent internal audits. However, 
according to the NFRs, internal audits are 
required for all NATO bodies, whether these 
are conducted by an in-house internal audit 
function or outsourced. 
Observation: Open. 
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MUNITIONS SAFETY INFORMATION ANALYSIS CENTER (MSIAC) FORMAL 
COMMENTS ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

AND THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(2) MSIAC 2015 FY 
IBA-AR(2018)0001, paragraph 6 
 
EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY THOSE ARTICLES ON CONTROL, RISK 
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
IS’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 
The approach to address the recommendation is under assessment and the 
process of implementation is ongoing. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division 
 Financial Controller, International Staff 
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the NATO 
Coordinated Pension Scheme’s Financial Statements for the year ended 
31 December 2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0009 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).  The NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme is referred to as the NATO 
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (NATO DBPS) in the Financial Statements. 
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
 
 IBAN would like in particular to draw your attention to the prior years’ observation 
on the need for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment liabilities to comply with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits). In 1997, Council approved 
not to account for the post-employment benefit liability (C-M(97)85) regarding defined 
benefit schemes. With the subsequent Council decision to implement IPSAS and the 
following Council approval of the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether 
the Council decision not to account for the post-employment benefit liability still applies. 
This is especially the case given that the NATO Accounting Framework does not include 
an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does it refer to this Council decision. The actuarial present 
value of the pension liability of the scheme at 31 December 2019 was EUR 8.45 billion  
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(EUR 8.1 billion at 31 December 2018). IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of 
addressing this recommendation in a timely manner. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
 

 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
The NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit plan and 
applies to all NATO Staff recruited between 1 July 1974 and 30 June 2005.  Members 
of staff recruited prior to July 1974 are members of the Provident Fund. Staff members 
recruited after 1 July 2005 are members of the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme. 
 
The NATO Member states jointly guarantee the payment of benefits. The total 
decrease in net assets under the Pension Scheme for 2019 amounted to EUR 2.78 
million (increase of EUR 4.69 million in 2018).  
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019.   
 
During the audit, IBAN made one observation which does not impact the audit opinion: 
 

1. Improvements required in the monitoring, presentation and disclosure of 
overdue accounts receivable and payable. 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from previous years’ audits and found 
that one was closed, one was in progress and one was open. 
 
IBAN would like in particular to draw your attention to the prior years’ observation on 
the need for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment liabilities to comply with 
the NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits). In 1997, Council 
approved not to account for the post-employment benefit liability (C-M(97)85) 
regarding defined benefit schemes. With the subsequent Council decision to 
implement IPSAS and the following Council approval of the NATO Accounting 
Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether the Council decision not to account for the 
post-employment benefit liability still applies. This is especially the case given that the 
NATO Accounting Framework does not include an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does 
it refer to this Council decision. The actuarial present value of the pension liability of 
the scheme at 31 December 2019 was EUR 8.45 billion (EUR 8.1 billion at 31 
December 2018). IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of addressing this 
recommendation in a timely manner. 
 
The Auditor’s report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
issued to the International Staff whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3. 
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
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addressed to NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme management. This is because 
IBAN considers that these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore 
fall under NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme’s management responsibility. 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  
THE NATO CORDINATED PENSION SCHEME 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme, for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2019, issued and submitted to IBAN on 27 April 2020. These 
Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits as 
at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
for the period ended 31 December 2019 and the Explanatory Notes, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme as at 
31 December 2019, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for 
Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework (NAF) and International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and 
Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans..  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme are drawn up in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework as approved by the Council and International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans. The 
Financial Controller is responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit to 
IBAN not later than 31st March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
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omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE NATO COORDINATED PENSION SCHEME 
 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Coordinated 
Pension Scheme Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, and 
issued an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and an unqualified opinion 
on compliance. The NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme is referred to as the NATO 
Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (NATO DBPS) in the Financial Statements. 
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made one observation and recommendation.   
 
This observation does not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and on 
compliance: 
 

1. Improvements required in the monitoring, presentation and disclosure of 
overdue accounts receivable and payable. 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one was closed, one remains open and one 
remains in progress.   
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit, as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme management. This is because 
IBAN considers that these matters are to be addressed by Management and therefore 
fall under the NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme’s executive responsibility.  
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE MONITORING, PRESENTATION 

AND DISCLOSURE OF OVERDUE ACCOUNTS RECEVABLE AND 
PAYABLE 

 
Reasoning  
 
1.1 Financial Statements shall be free of inconsistencies and any other errors or 
omissions caused by lack of control during preparation. NATO Reporting Entities 
should have proper internal controls, including reviews and reconciliations in place to 
ensure the consistency and the accuracy of account balances and information 
presented in the Financial Statements. 
 
1.2 NATO IS prepares the financial statements of the NATO Coordinated Pension 
Scheme in accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework. According to IPSAS 1, 
fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other 
events, and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for 
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses set out in IPSAS. The transparency of 
financial statements is ensured through full disclosure and by providing a fair 
presentation of useful information necessary for the decision making of the Nations.  
 
Observations 
 
1.3 During the audit of the 2019 NATO Coordinated Pension Scheme Financial 
Statements, IBAN found that at 31 December 2019:  
 

• Other Assets included accounts receivable older than 365 days related to the 
period 2014-2018 amounting to EUR 417,592 (the new balance as of October 
2020 amounts to EUR 344,129). These represent various debts of pensioners 
towards NATO, against which no further receipts have been made.  
 

• Liabilities included accounts payable older than 365 days related to the period 
2014-2018 amounting to EUR 750,269 (the new balance as of October 2020 
amounts to EUR 291,258). These represent amounts due to former staff 
where several payment attempts have failed: there was no reply from 
pensioners or heirs, or pensioners have failed to provide proof of life for more 
than one year.  
 

• The above overdue receivables and payables were not disclosed in sufficient 
detailed in the notes to the financial statements, as amounts that are more 
than 1 year, more than 2 years and more than 5 years old are not presented. 
 

1.4 The Office of the Financial Controller has started a detailed analysis of the 
overdue accounts receivable and payable. However, this needs to be finalised as 
some of these amounts may need to be written off. 
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Recommendations 
 
1.5 IBAN recommends that Office of the Financial Controller:  
 

a) Disclose the amount of overdue accounts receivable and payable in the notes 
to the financial statements for the amounts that are more than 1 year, more 
than 2 years and more than 5 years old. This will improve the fair disclosure 
of overdue accounts receivable and payable for the user of the Coordinated 
Pension Scheme’s Financial Statements. 

 
b)  Finalise the detailed analysis of the overdue accounts receivable and 

payable, jointly with the NATO Office of the Legal Advisor and determine the 
necessary actions to be taken.  
 

c) Obtain the required approvals in order to proceed with write-offs of outstanding 
receivables, if all other recovery attempts fail.  
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 

 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) Pension FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 1 
 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO 
DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE 
NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK 
(IPSAS 39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS)  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS OFC, being 
the Financial Controller of the NATO 
Coordinated Pension Scheme, define the 
recognition criteria for the post-employment 
liability, ensuring that this liability is 
recognised in accordance with the NATO 
Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 
Employee Benefits).  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Financial Statements of the NATO 
Coordinated Pension Scheme and of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund 
disclose in Note 3, the post-employment 
benefits, calculated in line with IPSAS 39 by 
the International Service for Remunerations 
and Pensions’ (ISRP) actuary.  
 
However, the post-employment liabilities 
are not recognised on the face of any NATO 
Reporting Entity Statement of Financial 
Position, which in overall terms is not 
compliant with IPSAS 39, part of the NATO 
Accounting Framework.  
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Open. 
 
 
 

(2) Pension FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 2 
 
NEED TO DEVELOP MORE EFFECTIVE 
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that in order to prevent 
and detect errors, IS OFC develop more 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NATO IS chose the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-Progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

effective internal controls over the financial 
statements preparation process, such as by 
documenting verification procedures of 
information and amounts presented in the 
financial statements prior to their 
submission for audit.  
 
 

Commission (COSO Framework) as a 
reference internal control framework. In line 
with COSO’s Principles 16 and 17, the 
organisation uses all available external and 
internal sources to monitor and evaluate its 
system of internal control, to identify 
deficiencies and areas for further 
improvements. Control over financial 
reporting is a part of the permanent and 
ongoing process of increasing the efficiency 
of the control mechanisms within the NATO 
IS.  
 
During the 2019 audit, IBAN found an 
unexplained difference of 15 beneficiaries 
between the number of NATO Coordinated 
Pension Scheme beneficiaries and the 
supporting documents provided.  
 
In addition, supporting documents have 
only partially been provided for audit 
purposes in order to ascertain an amount 
disclosed in Note 23 (approximately EUR 1 
million for administrative expenses related 
to the management of the pension scheme 
by NATO IS). 
 
Further internal controls need to be 
implemented in order to ensure that the 
financial statements, including disclosure 
notes, are free from errors.  
 

(3) Pension FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2017)23, paragraph 8 
 
UNCLEAR FOREIGN CURRENCY 
CONVERSION POLICY  
  
IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board recommends developing and 
implementing a comprehensive policy on 
the accounting and reporting of 
transactions and balances, stated in foreign 
currencies. 
 
The Board recommends that monetary 
assets and liabilities at year-end be 
revalued into EUR at the year-end foreign 
exchange rates.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NATO IS implemented 
FC(FAC)(2020)004_FC OFC Policy 
Accounting Reporting Transactions in 
Foreign Currency. 
 
 
No material issues or findings in the year 
end revaluations of balances stated in 
foreign currency were found by IBAN during 
the audit of the financial statements for the 
year 2019.  

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
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NATO COORDINATED PENSION SCHEME FORMAL COMMENTS 
ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  

THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED IN THE MONITORING, PRESENTATION AND 
DISCLOSURE OF OVERDUE ACCOUNTS RECEVABLE AND PAYABLE 
 
DBPS’ Formal Comments 
  

Agreed.  
 
IS will continue its efforts to improve the practices and policies on managing 
the overdue accounts, receivables and payables. 

 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) PENSION 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 1 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK (IPSAS 
39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS) 
 
DBPS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The analysis of the applicability of IPSAS 39 is ongoing. 

 

IBAN’s Position 
 
In 1997, Council approved not to account for the post-employment benefit 
liability (C-M(97)85) regarding defined benefit schemes. With the subsequent 
Council decision to implement IPSAS and the following Council approval of the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether the Council decision 
not to account for the post-employment benefit liability still applies. This is 
especially the case given that the NATO Accounting Framework does not 
include an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does it refer to this Council decision. 
IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of addressing this 
recommendation in a timely manner. 
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(2) PENSION 2018 FY 
IBA-AR(2019)0028, paragraph 2 
NEED TO DEVELOP MORE EFFECTIVE INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
DBPS’ Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
Based on the COSO model the IC is being continuously improved.  
The IS suggests to consider the observation closed. 
 

IBAN’s Position 
  
During the audit of the 2019 DBPS Financial Statements, IBAN found internal 
control issues as described in the table above. IBAN therefore maintains its 
recommendation regarding the need for IS OFC to develop more effective 
internal controls over the financial statements preparation process. The status 
will be reassessed as part of the audit of the 2020 Financial Statements. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Chairman, NATO FORACS Office Steering Committee 
 Project Manager and Technical Director, NATO FORACS Office  
 Financial Controller, International Staff  
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the NATO Naval 
Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites Office’s (NATO 
FORACS Office (NFO)) Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
December 2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0012 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
As already communicated on 24 July 2020 (ref: IBA-C(2020)0014), considerable delays in 
receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance with auditing standards, 
prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO FORACS Office (NFO) and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 

 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Naval Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites Office 

(NATO FORACS Office (NFO)) 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
The NATO Naval Forces Sensors and Weapon Accuracy Check Sites Office (NATO 
FORACS) provide a comprehensive calibration of sensors associated with the weapon 
systems of NATO naval units such as surface ships, submarines and anti-submarines 
helicopters. These tests are conducted at three FORACS ranges under the jurisdiction 
of Norway, Greece, and the United States of America. 
 
The overall management of the programme is under the responsibility of the FORACS 
Steering Committee. The NATO FORACS Office (NFO) is located at the NATO 
Headquarters in Brussels and serves as the executive staff of the Steering Committee. 
The NFO budget for 2019 (including brought forward credits) amounted to EUR 1.92 
million while budget expenses amounted to EUR 1.18 million. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations and recommendations. These 
findings are in the Letter of Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3). 
 
The main findings are listed below and do not impact the audit opinion on the financial 
statements and on compliance: 
 

1. Inconsistent recognition and disclosure of uncommitted appropriations of the 
Ranges. 

 
2. Insufficient documentation in support of the note to the Financial Statements 

on related parties. 
 

3. Accounting treatment of the reversal of provision for untaken leave. 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that three were closed (one of which is superseded 
by current year observation 1) and one remains in progress. 
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
issued to the NATO FORACS Office (NFO) whose comments have been included, 
with the IBAN’s position on those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to 
Annex 3.  
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NATO NAVAL FORCES SENSOR AND WEAPONS ACCURACY CHECK SITES 
OFFICE  

(NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO)) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of the NATO Naval Forces Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites 
Office (NATO FORACS Office (NFO)), for the 12 month period ended 31 December 
2019, issued under document reference FC(2020)0026, and submitted to IBAN on 31 
March 2020. These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Financial Performance, the Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow, for the 12 month period 
ended 31 December 2019, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes. In addition, the Financial Statements include a Budget 
Execution Statement for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2019.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO) as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial 
performance, its cash flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 
31 December 2019, in accordance with accounting requirements and reporting 
standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO) are drawn up in accordance 
with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO 
Accounting Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is 
responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st 
March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Project Manager is responsible and accountable for sound financial management. 
The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must incorporate the 
principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, risk 
management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud prevention 
and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE  
 

NATO NAVAL FORCES SENSOR AND WEAPONS ACCURACY CHECK SITES 
OFFICE  

(NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO)) 
 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Naval Forces 
Sensor and Weapons Accuracy Check Sites Office (NATO FORACS Office (NFO)) 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, and issued an unqualified 
opinion on the financial statements and an unqualified opinion on compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations and recommendations.   
 
These observations do not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and 
on compliance: 
 

1. Inconsistent recognition and disclosure of uncommitted appropriations of the 
Ranges. 

 
2. Insufficient documentation in support of the note to the Financial Statements 

on related parties. 
 
3. Accounting treatment of the reversal of provision for untaken leave. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that three were closed (one of which is superseded 
by current year observation 1) and one remains in progress.   
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. INCONSISTENT RECOGNITION AND DISCLOSURE OF UNCOMMITED 

APPROPRATIONS OF THE RANGES 
 

Reasoning  
 
1.1 As stated in Note 5 of the NATO FORACS Office (NFO) 2019 Financial 
Statements: “During the audit to 2018 Financial Statements IBA(AR(2019)0022, IBAN 
made a recommendation that the annual budgetary surpluses of the Ranges, usually 
known around April of the following year, should be reported as a Current Asset 
(Receivable) and Liability (refundable Surplus to Nations) in NFO’s Financial 
Statements. In 2019, this recommendation was taken into account and therefore NFO 
is now reporting those figures”. 
 
1.2 Given the tight schedule of the accounts closing exercise, NFO confirmed the 
amount of these surpluses directly with each Range Manager on a declaration basis. 
The amounts recorded as receivables in NFO's Financial Statements should be 
consistent with the surpluses reported in the Budget Execution Statement (BES) of the 
Ranges for 2019 and presented in the "NATO FORACS Corporate plan 2020-2021" 
(NFO(2020)011-484) issued in April 2020. 

 
1.3 The budget execution of the Ranges is outside of the scope of IBAN’s audit 
mandate. These expenditures are audited and certified by the Ministry of Defence of 
each host country, in accordance with respective national laws and regulations. For 
financial year 2019, the accounts of NATO FORACS Norway (NFN) and NATO 
FORACS Greece (NFG) were certified, however, due to specific rules, no audit 
certificate was issued by the United States Department of the Navy for NATO 
FORACS AUTEC (NFA) since 2017. 

 
1.4 These independent third-party audit certificates provide confirmation and 
strong audit evidence to corroborate the amount of the receivables recorded in the 
NFO accounts. They therefore contribute to give an audit assurance that the, 
“Financial statements [...] present fairly the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of an entity” and that they are “prepared on a going concern basis” in 
accordance with the NATO Accounting Framework’s IPSAS 1. 
 
Observations 
 
1.5 The amounts reported as a Current Asset (Receivable) in NFO’s Financial 
Statements regarding the refundable surplus to Nations are consistent with the 
information reported in the Budget Execution Statements of the Ranges. However, we 
found that the committed amounts as per the audit certificates of NFN and NFG 
Ranges, which were reported to the Steering Committee, are lower than those shown 
in their respective Budget Execution Statements. The Budget Execution Statements 
of the Ranges report as a carry forward, amounts relating to supplementary budget 
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which have however been certified in the audit certificate as uncommitted. In addition, 
we found no Steering Committee decision authorising the Ranges to treat these 
uncommitted funds as a carry-forward. 
 
1.6 Therefore, if the Ranges would report committed amounts in their respective 
Budget Execution Statements to reflect amounts certified, then the receivable and 
liability in the NFO Statement of Financial Position corresponding to the surpluses of 
the Ranges would be increased by EUR 233,020 (NOK 2,325,195) for NFN and by 
EUR 59,099 for NFG. In addition, as explained in the reasoning, it must be noted that 
with no available audit certificate for NFA since 2017, we cannot provide a reasonable 
level of assurance as to the accuracy of the refundable surplus of NFA. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1.7 IBAN recommends that NFO: 
 

a) Ensures the completeness and accuracy of receivables by verifying the 
consistency between the amounts of receivables recognised in the financial 
statements of NFO and surpluses shown both in the budgetary execution of 
the Ranges and third party audit certificates, and 

 
b) Updates the method of estimating receivables in its accounting policy 

accordingly. 
 
 
2. INSUFFICIENT DOCUMENTATION IN SUPPORT OF THE NOTE TO THE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON RELATED PARTIES 
 

Reasoning  
 
2.1 IPSAS 20, which forms part of the NATO Accounting Framework, requires: 
“the disclosure of the existence of related party relationships where control exists and 
the disclosure of information about transactions between the entity and its related 
parties in certain circumstances. This information is required for accountability 
purposes and to facilitate a better understanding of the financial position and 
performance of the reporting entity”. 
 
2.2 This information is needed from “parties that control or significantly influence 
the reporting entity”, i.e. parties that have “the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of an entity, but not control those policies.” ”Significant 
influence may be exercised in several ways, usually by representation on the board of 
directors or equivalent governing body”. 

 
2.3 Further, “where an entity is subject to the oversight of an elected or appointed 
representative of the governing body of the government to which the entity belongs, 
that person is included in key management personnel if the oversight function includes 
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the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the entity”. 

 
2.4 In order to identify such related parties and related party transaction, reporting 
entities have to ensure that they are making inquiries to all those individuals identified 
as key management personnel, which, in accordance with the NATO Accounting 
Framework, includes members of governing bodies, with the adequate audit trail to 
support the information disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
2.5 In the absence of such formal evidence, external auditors cannot give 
assurance that, firstly, the management assertions made in accordance with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 20) are true and fair, and secondly, that the 
internal control activities are effective in detecting this type of transaction. 

 
2.6  In this respect, Article 6 of the NATO Financial Regulation (NFRs) requires 
the Financial Controller to exercise the responsibility of budgeting, accounting and 
reporting activities of the NATO entity. This includes being responsible for the financial 
internal control system established and for the preparation of the financial statements 
in accordance with NATO Accounting Framework. 

 
2.7  In addition, Article 12.3 of the NFRs states that “Internal control activities shall 
include,[…] adequate audit trails and data confidentiality, integrity and availability in 
information systems.” 
 
Observations 
 
2.8 We found that Note 26 “Related parties” of NFO’s Financial Statements states 
that “Both Steering Committee members and Key management personnel have no 
significant party relationships that could affect the operations of the NFO”. However 
this information is not supported by any document such as an individual declaration of 
related party relationships and absence of conflict of interest for key management 
personnel. 
 
2.9 As explained in the reasoning, in the absence of this documentation, the 
accuracy of the financial disclosure and audit trail is not demonstrated. Such a 
statement provides minimum assurance that the entity has included in its internal 
control system a procedure to verify the absence of conflicts of interest and is able to 
identify related party relationships that could affect the operation of NFO. This is a 
procedure that must be renewed each year by each staff member individually and 
cannot be confused with, for example, adherence to the general NATO Code of 
Conduct via the employment contract. 

 
2.10 In addition, this obligation extends to the representatives of the Steering 
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the NATO Accounting Framework 
(IPSAS 20) as long as they have the power to participate in the financial and operating 
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policy decisions, regardless of the level of control they provide over day-to-day affairs 
and the regulatory framework in which each of them has been appointed. 
 
Recommendations 
 
2.11 IBAN recommends that NFO: 

 
a) Implements a procedure for identifying related party transactions and monitor 

the absence of conflicts of interest in support of the disclosure notes to the 
financial statements. 
 

b) Complies with the NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 20) by ensuring that 
all members of key management personnel, including Steering committee 
members, complete and sign declarations concerning related party 
relationships or transactions that could affect the operation of the reporting 
entity. 

 
 

3. ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR 
UNTAKEN LEAVE 
 

Reasoning  
 

3.1 The NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 19) states that “Provisions should 
be reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
or service potential will be required to settle the obligation, the provision should be 
reversed.” 

 
3.2 Consequently, the total or partial reversal of a provision implies the 
unrecognition of the corresponding liability against the expense category for which the 
provision was initially recognized. 
 

3.3 Accordingly, the Statement of Financial Performance must reflect the net flows 
related to the change in provisions between two consecutive years. 
 
Observations 

 
3.4 In 2019, NFO booked expenses related to the total year-end provision for 
untaken leave amounting to EUR 12,676. In 2018, this year-end provision and 
expense amounted to EUR 11,243. NFO correctly reversed the prior year’s provision 
in the Statement of Financial Position in accordance with its accounting policy. 
However NFO did not recognise the counterpart of this reversal of provision in the 
Statement of Financial Performance amounting to EUR 11,243.  
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3.5 Therefore, expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance do not reflect 
the change in provision for untaken leave, which was in 2019 an increase of 
EUR 1,432 and not an increase of EUR 12,676.  The expenses in the Statement of 
Financial Performance are therefore overstated by EUR 11,243. Furthermore, as NFO 
recognises revenues to compensate for expenses related to the provision for untaken 
leave, revenues are also overstated by the same amount. 
 
Recommendations 
 
3.6 IBAN recommends that NFO recognises in accordance with its accounting 
policy, the reversal of the previous year's provision for untaken leave in the Statement 
of Financial Performance. 
  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 3 
IBA-AR(2021)0012 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
3-8 

FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 
 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) NFO FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0022, paragraph 1.8 
 
WEAKNESSES IN THE INTERNAL 
CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
a) Correct the Cash Flow Statement 
in order to present short term deposits with 
a maturity of less than three months as a 
cash equivalent. 
 
 
b) Implement and document 
verification procedures of the figures in the 
Financial Statements in order to prevent or 
detect these mistakes before the issuance 
of the Financial Statements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The cash flow Statement 
presentation was corrected in 
accordance with IBAN 
recommendation. 
 
 
Prevention and detection of mistakes 
before the issuance of the Financial 
Statements have been applied on a 
regular basis for the 2019 Financial 
Statements and no anomaly was 
found during the course of the audit. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
 
 
 

(2) NFO FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0022, paragraph 2.6 
 
RECOGNITION OF REVENUE FROM 
SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE RANGES 
TO NON-MEMBER NATIONS  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
a) IBAN recommends that the 
revenues collected by NFO resulting from 
the services provided by the Ranges to 
non-member Nations be documented and 
recognised as non-exchange revenue. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NFO acknowledged the 
recommendation that the revenues 
collected resulting from the services 
provided by the Ranges to non-
member Nations be documented and 
recognised as non-exchange 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

revenue. In 2019 no such case 
occurred. 
 

(3) NFO FY 2018 
IBA-AR(2019)0022, paragraph 3.7 
 
RECOGNITION AND DISCLOSURE OF 
CASH TO BE RECEIVED FROM RANGES 
RELATED TO BUDGETARY 
SURPLUSES 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
 
a) Recognise in the financial 
statements the Ranges budgetary 
surpluses for the year, which will be 
returned in cash to NFO the following year, 
as a current asset in counterpart of a liability 
representing the refundable surplus to 
Nation. 
 
b) Disclose, in the financial 
statements, the Ranges budgetary 
surpluses as a contingent assets and 
liabilities if the Ranges budgetary surplus 
amounts are not available, or the amount 
not sufficiently reliable at the reporting date. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From 2019 onwards NFO recognises 
in its financial statements the 
budgetary surplus to be received 
from the Ranges. 
 
This observation is closed as 
superseded by current year 
Observation 1. 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed 
 

(4) NFO FY 2015 
IBA-AR(2017)22, paragraph 7.8 
 
EFFORT TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY 
THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL AUDIT  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
a) Ensure its risk management 
policy and risk registers include financial 
reporting and compliance risks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
a) As in previous years, 
Annex 6 of the 91st minutes of the 
NATO FORACS Office Steering 
Committee meeting provides a 
complete and updated list of 
operational risks and their mitigation 
to ensure the continuity of FORACS 
NFO and Ranges activities. However, 
the consideration of financial 
reporting and compliance involving 
the International Staff Office of the 
Financial Controller (IS OFC) is still 
not well documented. Observation In-
progress. 

 
 
 
Observation  
In-Progress  
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

b) As required by FRP XII 3) (e), 
choose a specific internal control 
framework that it will use to assess its 
system of internal control.  The assessment 
is required by Article 12 of the NFRs.  Since 
other NATO entities have already adopted 
COSO as their internal control framework, 
and it is a framework that can be used by 
entities of all sizes, the NFO should 
consider adopting COSO as their internal 
control framework.   
 
c) In coordination with the IS where 
applicable, begin the work of assessing and 
documenting the system of internal control 
and risk management procedures to 
support compliance with NFR Articles 11 
and 12, FRPs XI and XII, and the internal 
control framework that it chooses. 
 
 
d) Through outsourcing if 
considered to be more cost effective, 
ensure internal audit activities are 
evaluating NFO risk management and 
internal control. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
e) Ensure that the supplementary 
budget credits are only used to enter into 
commitments for goods and services to be 
rendered during the financial year.  
Contract authority should be used for goods 
and services to be received in future years.   
 

b) The NATO FORACS Office 
Steering Committee confirmed in 
February 2019 the adoption of the 
COSO Framework 2013 model of 
Internal Control. The aim is now to 
work with the IS OFC to implement 
this process in the most effective way 
possible. Observation Closed. 

 
 
 
 
c) The IS OFC and NFO 
Project Manager consider the level of 
Internal Control adopted by NFO to 
be appropriate to the size and 
complexity of the Office, but the detail 
needs to be documented for audit 
purposes and this work is in 
progress. Observation In-progress. 
 
d) The evaluation of the 
internal controls and risk 
management by the IS Internal Audit 
has not been conducted yet. IBAN 
notes that the IS Internal Audit was 
provided with relevant information 
related to risk management and 
internal controls by the NFO Project 
Manager. Also, we note that the IS 
Internal Audit Plan is prepared based 
on a risk based methodology. It is for 
NFO to ensure that internal audit 
activities are conducted. NFO is 
awaiting IS Internal Audit action. 
Observation Open. 
 
e) In recent years FORACS 
has changed the approval process 
for the supplementary budget, which 
is now only used for goods and 
services to be rendered during the 
financial year. This approval process 
also applies to NFO. Observation 
Closed. 
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NATO FORACS OFFICE (NFO) FORMAL COMMENTS 
ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  

THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
INCONSISTENT RECOGNITION AND DISCLOSURE OF UNCOMMITED 
APPROPRATIONS OF THE RANGES 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 

a) NFO notes the IBAN recommendation regarding uncommitted 
appropriations at the NATO FORACS Ranges and their handling in the NFO 
Financial Statements. It is the broad intention to consider changes which will 
introduce sufficient flexibility to support NFO FORACS in managing project 
implementation spanning a number of financial years, while still providing clear 
information on project funding and approval status in support of future audits. 
 
b) OFC is in the course of reviewing Accounting Policies for the entities 
in its portfolio and will take this recommendation into consideration when 
developing new procedures and mechanisms in this area. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 2: 
INSUFFICIENT DOCUMENTATION IN SUPPORT OF THE NOTE TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON RELATED PARTIES 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Do not agree.  
 

a) NFO notes the IBAN recommendation regarding related party 
relationships or transactions but believes the information provided is sufficient. 
Nevertheless, during the COSO-triggered periodic assessment of the 
efficiency of control mechanisms, we will assess if any change can be 
introduced to the process of gathering information, in terms of improving the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the administrative process and possible added 
value. 

 
b) IPSAS 20—Related Party Disclosures does not prescribe any 
particular method in which the information to be disclosed should be gathered. 
We believe that the current system of gathering information on related parties 
is adequate to the governance structure of the entity and that the disclosures 
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in the financial statements, being in line with IPSAS 20, provides a reliable and 
true picture. 

 

IBAN’s Position 
 
IBAN acknowledges that IPSAS 20 - Related Party Disclosures does not 
prescribe a specific method in which the information to be disclosed should be 
gathered. However, in the absence of any document, such as an individual 
declaration of related party relationships and absence of conflict of interest for 
key management personnel, NFO cannot demonstrate the accuracy of the 
financial disclosure and audit trail, as required by the NFRs. Such a declaration 
would provide at least a minimum assurance that the entity included in its 
internal control system a procedure to verify the absence of conflicts of interest 
and is able to identify related party relationships that could affect the operation 
of NFO.  

 
 

OBSERVATION 3: 
ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR UNTAKEN 
LEAVE 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed. 
 

NFO notes the IBAN recommendation regarding the accounting treatment of 
the reversal of provision for untaken leave. The recommendation has been 
taken into account during the preparation of the 2020 Financial Statements.  

 
 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(4) NFO FY 2015  
IBA-AR(2017)22, paragraph 7.8 
EFFORT TO ACHIEVE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REVISED NATO FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS, PARTICULARLY THOSE ARTICLES ON INTERNAL CONTROL, 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
NFO’s Formal Comments 
 

Do not agree.  
 

a) Action in respect of this recommendation is complete; NFO and IS 
have implemented it fully. In line with NRFs/FRPs, management of the 
financial risks is the responsibility of Financial Controller. The NFO is served 
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by the IS Office of Financial Control, hence the financial reporting and 
compliance risks are part of the IS risk management policy and risk registers.  

 

c) Action in respect of this recommendation is complete. NFO 
implemented it fully and the work of assessing and documenting the system 
of internal control and risk management procedures has not only begun but is 
undergoing a process of continual improvement in line with the COSO 
principles.  

 

d) Action in respect of this recommendation is complete. The NFO 

Project Manager has engaged with the Head of NATO’s Office of Internal Audit 

and Risk Management (OIARM) regarding an independent assessment of the 

COSO Internal Control framework adopted by NFO in 2019. As the OIARM’s 

Audit Plan is determined on a risk-based methodology, NFO will be included 

at an appropriate time. 

IBAN’s position 
 
The implementation of COSO following its adoption in 2019 as a framework and 
the rollout of internal control and risk management tools were not fully effective 
at the closing date of 31 December 2019. More specifically, at this date: 
 
a)  NFO had not yet sufficiently documented areas of financial reporting and 

compliance involving the International Staff Office of the Financial 
Controller. 

c)  NFO still needs to fully document the system of internal control and risk 
management procedures, adapted to the lower level of materiality given the 
size and limited complexity of the NATO Reporting Entity.  

d)  As a separate NATO Reporting Entity, the NFRs require NFO to ensure that 
internal audit activities are evaluating its own risk management and 
internal control. NFO should not link the timing of these internal audit 
activities with the audit plan of the International Staff, which is a separate 
NATO Reporting Entity. 

  
IBAN therefore reiterates the sub-recommendations above and will reassess its 
position and reflect progress done by NFO as part of the audit of the 2020 
Financial Statements. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division  
 Deputy Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division   
 Financial Controller, International Staff  
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the New NATO 
Headquarters (NNHQ) Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0011 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
New NATO Headquarters and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
  

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante  
Chair 

 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
New NATO Headquarters (NNHQ) 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the New NATO 
Headquarters (NNHQ) Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
    
At the Washington Summit, in April 1999, the Heads of State and Government of NATO 
countries formally decided to build a new NATO Headquarters in Brussels to meet the 
Alliance’s needs in the twenty-first century. The North Atlantic Council, upon 
recommendation of the Civil Budget Committee, approves the budget for the New NATO 
Headquarters. It is funded from national contributions based on a specific cost-share 
agreement among the NATO nations. 
 
The entire New NATO HQ Programme was budgeted through a Long Term Programme 
Budget (LTPB) ending end of 2018 and for a total budget ceiling of EUR 1.179 billion. 
From that LTPB, a remaining amount of EUR 49.2 million was carried forward to year 
2019. 
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance for 
the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations which do not impact the audit opinion: 
 

1. No financial report for Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) at year end 2019.    
 

2. No information related to Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) Contingency 
credits under control of Host Nation Belgium. 
 

3. Accounting misstatement in the reversal of provision for untaken leave. 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the previous 
years’ audits and found that one was closed and one remains in-progress.  
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were issued 
to NNHQ whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s position on those 
comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3. 
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-up 
of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter addressed to 
the NNHQ management. This is because IBAN considers that these matters are to be 
addressed by Management and therefore fall under NNHQ’s executive responsibility. 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
 

NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS 
 

(NNHQ) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of the New NATO Headquarters, for the 12 month period ended 31 
December 2019 issued under document reference FC(2020)0040 and submitted to 
IBAN on 27/04/2020. These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Financial 
Position as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Financial Performance, the 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow, for the 
12 month period ended 31 December 2019, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. In addition, the Financial Statements 
include a Budget Execution Statement for the 12 month period ended 31 December 
2019.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of NNHQ as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial performance, its cash 
flows and budget execution for the 12 month period ended 31 December 2019, in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF).  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
  
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of NNHQ are drawn up in accordance with accounting 
requirements and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting 
Framework as approved by the Council. The Financial Controller is responsible for 
submitting the Financial Statements for audit to IBAN not later than 31st March following 
the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS 
 

(NNHQ) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
  

PU
B

LI
C

LY
 D

IS
C

LO
SE

D
 - 

 P
D

N
(2

02
2)

00
03

  -
 M

IS
 E

N
 L

E
C

T
U

R
E

 P
U

B
LI

Q
U

E



NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
 

ANNEX 3 
IBA-AR(2021)0011 

 

NATO UNCLASSIFIED 
3-2 

Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the New NATO 
Headquarters Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, and issued 
an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and an unqualified opinion on 
compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made three observations and recommendations.   
 
These observations do not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and 
on compliance: 
 

1. No financial report for Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) at year end 2019. 
 
2. No information related to Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) Contingency 

credits under control of Host Nation Belgium. 
 

3. Accounting misstatement in the reversal of provision for untaken leave. 
 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one was closed and one remains in-progress.  
 
The observations and recommendations raised during the audit as well as the follow-
up of the previous years’ observations, which have not been included in the IBAN’s 
Letter of Observations and Recommendations are included in a Management Letter 
addressed to NNHQ management. This is because IBAN considers that these matters 
are to be addressed by Management and therefore fall under NNHQ executive 
responsibility.  
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.  NO FINANCIAL REPORT FOR LONG TERM PROGRAMME BUDGET 

(LTPB) AT YEAR END 2019 
 

Reasoning  
 
1.1  The disestablishment of the Headquarter Programme Office/ Transition Office 
(HQPO/TO) was decided to be on 30 June 2020 by the Deputy Permanent 
Representative Committee (DPRC-N(2019)0067-REV1-AS1). This required that “a 
financial status report for the Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) as of 31 
December 2019 will be presented to the Committee in the first quarter of 2020”. 
 
1.2  The fact that a financial status report is required is also disclosed in Note 23 
of the New NATO HQ 2019 Financial Statements: “A financial status report for the 
LTPB as of 31 December 2019 will be presented to the Deputy Permanent 
Representative Committee (DPRC) by the HQPO/TO after the issuance of these 
financial statements”. 
 
Observations 
 
1.3  The Headquarter Programme Office/ Transition Office (HQPO/TO), part of 
the Defence Investment Division, did not present, during the first quarter of 2020, a 
financial status report for the Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) as of 31 
December 2019, as required by the decision of the DPRC (DPRC-N(2019)0067-
REV1-AS1). The financial status report was only presented on 22 September 2020 to 
the Budget Committee (BC-D(2020)0167).  
 
1.4  The NATO headquarters move was in June 2018. Therefore, if a financial 
status report as of 31 December 2019 had been presented without delay, this would 
have provided a comprehensive and timely view to the Nations of the remaining 
financial commitments and requirements of the Programme, through to its completion. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1.5 IBAN recommends that the International Staff present the financial status 
reports for the Long Term Programme Budget (LTPB) without delay, in compliance 
with the decisions of governing bodies.   
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2. NO INFORMATION RELATED TO LONG TERM PROGRAMME BUDGET 
(LTPB) CONTINGENCY CREDITS UNDER CONTROL OF HOST NATION 
BELGIUM 

 
Reasoning  
 
2.1 Special budgetary and financial procedures were adopted in order to ensure 
transparent and responsible management of the new NATO HQ project. Annual 
financial statements are prepared and must include, as required by the Budget 
Committee in BC-D(2000)16,  “budget execution reports, a balance sheet and funding 
table”.  
 
2.2 Therefore, the disclosure notes of the New NATO HQ Financial Statements 
include, since 2013, an end of year status of the Long Term Programme Budget 
(LTPB) contingency credits, as they were consumed regularly.  
 
2.3  Out of a total amount of EUR 247 million of LTPB contingency credits, EUR 
203 million were allocated to Host Nation Belgium, EUR 38.4 million to the Deputy 
Permanent Representative Committee, EUR 3.98 million to Host Nation NATO 
Communication and Information Agency, and EUR 1.2 million to Host Nation 
International Staff.  The total amount of contingency credits authorised to Host Nations 
NCIA and IS were fully committed. 
 
Observations 
 
2.4 Note 23, “Contingency credits and Contingent liabilities” in the New NATO HQ 
2019 Financial Statements provides information regarding the estimated refund from 
Host Nation Belgium from the construction contract amounting to EUR 15.4 million.  
According to the Budget Committee decision (BC-D(2020)0167) dated 22 September 
2020, “Host Nation Belgium confirmed that from the overall authorization an amount 
of approximately KEUR 13,200 will no longer be needed and will be made available to 
NATO in the course of 2020”.   
 
2.5 However, there is no information related to the status of the contingency 
credits under Host Nation Belgium control as at 31 December 2019. Note 23 provides 
only the latest status of the contingencies under Deputy Permanent Representative 
Committee (DPRC) control. 
 
2.6  One of the latest status of the Host Nation Belgium contingency credits were 
disclosed in a DPRC decision (DPRC-N(2018)007-REV1 dated 6 November 2018) 
with an estimated available amount of EUR 10.8 million. 
 
2.7 By not providing the status of all contingency credits, the NNHQ 2019 
Financial Statements lack the clarity required by the principles mentioned above. Such 
financial information may be needed by stakeholders for their decision to use available 
contingencies to fund additional costs related to the former NATO HQ and the 
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continuation of the LTPB until December 2020. 
 
Recommendations 
 
2.8  IBAN recommends that IS-OFC improve the disclosure in note 23 to the 
Financial Statements regarding the status of all Long Term Programme Budget 
contingency credits. 
 
 
3. ACCOUNTING MISSTATEMENT IN THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR 

UNTAKEN LEAVE 
 
Reasoning  
 
3.1 IPSAS 19 states that “Provisions should be reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required 
to settle the obligation, the provision should be reversed.” 
 
3.2 Consequently, the total or partial reversal of a provision implies the 
unrecognition of the corresponding liability in expenses (and revenue) for which the 
provision was initially recognised. 
 
3.3 Accordingly, the Statement of Financial Performance must reflect the net flows 
related to the change in provisions between two consecutive years. 
 
Observations 
 
3.4 In 2019, NNHQ booked expenses related to the total year-end provision for 
untaken leave amounting to EUR 42,336. In 2018, this year-end provision and 
expense amounted to EUR 73,382. NNHQ correctly reversed the prior year’s provision 
in the Statement of Financial Position. However, NNHQ did not recognise the 
counterpart of this reversal of provision in the Statement of Financial Performance 
amounting to EUR 73,382.  
 
3.5 As a result, expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance do not reflect 
the change in provision for untaken leave, which was in 2019 a decrease of EUR 
31,046 and not an increase of EUR 42,336.  The expenses in the Statement of 
Financial Performance are therefore overstated by EUR 73,382. Furthermore, as 
NNHQ recognises revenues to compensate for expenses related to the provision for 
untaken leave, revenues are also overstated by the same amount.  
 

Recommendations 
 
3.6 IBAN recommends that NNHQ recognise in the Statement of Financial 
Performance the reversal of the previous year's provisions for Untaken Leave.  
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 

 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) ENTITY FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0021, paragraph 1 
 
NNHQ LONG TERM PROGRAMME 
BUDGET EXECUTION STATEMENT DO 
NOT RECONCILE WITH FINANCIAL 
STATEMENST 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
In order to ensure the accuracy of the 
Budget Execution Statements, IBAN 
recommends that: 
 
- End of year activities be updated to 

ensure that the carry forward of accrued 
expenses be properly reflected against 
the annual budget in the ERP, 

- Quarterly reconciliation be conducted 
between HQPO Team and the IS Office 
of Financial Control. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IBAN did not receive supporting 
evidence on whether end of year 
activities were updated to ensure 
that the carry forward of accrued 
expenses were properly 
reflected against the annual 
budget in the ERP. In addition, 
IBAN did not receive a quarterly 
reconciliation conducted 
between HQPO Team and the IS 
Office of Financial Control.  
 

 
 
 
Observation 
In progress. 

(2) ENTITY FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0021, paragraph 2 
 
ERROR IN THE NOTE 8 “NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS” OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS Office of 
Financial Control ensure that all non-current 
assets are correctly disclosed in Note 8 to 
NNHQ Financial Statements before transfer 
to NATO IS and NCIA. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This error was corrected in the 
2019 Financial Statements. 
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Closed. 
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NEW NATO HEADQUARTERS (NNHQ) FORMAL COMMENTS 
ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  

THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 
 
OBSERVATION 1: 
NO FINANCIAL REPORT FOR LONG TERM PROGRAMME BUDGET (LTPB) AT 
YEAR END 2019 
 
NNHQ’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The NNHQ project has been closed as of 31 December 2020. 

 
 
OBSERVATION 2: 
NO INFORMATION RELATED TO LONG TERM PROGRAMME BUDGET (LTPB) 
CONTINGENCY CREDITS UNDER CONTROL OF HOST NATION BELGIUM 
 
NNHQ’s Formal Comments 
 

Do not agree.  
 
The NNHQ project closed per end of 2020 and no contingencies are 
anticipated in their last Financial Statements.   
 

IBAN’s Position 
  
This recommendation related to the NNHQ 2019 Financial Statements, in which 
information related to long term programme budget contingency credits under 
control of Host Nation Belgium has not been disclosed.  IBAN therefore 
maintains its recommendation and will reassess the status of this 
recommendation as part of the audit of the 2020 Financial Statements.  

 
 
OBSERVATION 3: 
ACCOUNTING MISSTATEMENT IN THE REVERSAL OF PROVISION FOR 
UNTAKEN LEAVE 
 
NNHQ’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The NNHQ project closed per end of 2020 and no provision for untaken leave 
is anticipated in their last Financial Statements.    
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) NNHQ 2018 FY  
IBA-AR(2019)0021, paragraph 1 
NNHQ LONG TERM PROGRAMME BUDGET EXECUTION STATEMENT DO NOT 
RECONCILE WITH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NNHQ’s Formal Comments 
 

Do not agree.  
 
The situation was reported and explained to the member Nations in June 2019 
(see DPRC-N(2019)0037(INV). The figures disclosed in the financial 
statements are accurate. 
 
The IS proposes to consider this recommendation as closed. 
 

IBAN’s Position 
 
IBAN acknowledges that the discrepancy between the Financial Statements and 
the NNHQ LTPB was explained in DPRC-N(2019)0037(INV). However, IBAN has 
not received supporting evidence on whether end of year activities were 
updated to ensure that the carry forward of accrued expenses were properly 
reflected against the annual budget in the ERP. In addition, IBAN has not 
received a quarterly reconciliation conducted between the HQPO Team and the 
IS Office of Financial Control. IBAN therefore maintains this recommendation 
and will reassess its status as part of the audit of the NNHQ 2020 Financial 
Statements. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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Boulevard Léopold III  -  B-1110  Bruxelles - Belgique 
Tel.: +32(0)2 707 4111 – Fax: +32(0)2 707 4962 

To: Secretary General 
 (Attn: Director of the Private Office) 
 
Cc: NATO Permanent Representatives 
 Assistant Secretary General, Executive Management Division  
 Financial Controller, International Staff  
 Chairman, Resource Policy & Planning Board 
 Branch Head, Secretariat and Finance Branch, NATO Office of Resources 
 Private Office Registry 
  
 
Subject: International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) Auditor’s Report and Letter 

of Observations and Recommendations on the audit of the NATO Retirees 
Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
December 2019 – IBA-AR(2021)0008 

 
 
 IBAN submits herewith its approved Auditor’s Report (Annex 2) and Letter of 
Observations and Recommendations (Annex 3) with a Summary Note for distribution to the 
Council (Annex 1).   
 
 Article 15 of the NATO Financial Regulations states that the IBAN must present 
its final reports, including factual and formal comments, together with the audited financial 
statements, to the Council not later than 31 August, following the end of the Financial Year. 
Considerable delays in receiving outstanding information, which is required in accordance 
with auditing standards, prevented IBAN’s ability to meet the 31st of August 2020 deadline. 
 
 IBAN’s report sets out an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund and on compliance for financial year 2019. 
 
 IBAN would like in particular to draw your attention to the prior years’ observation 
on the need for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment liabilities to comply with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits). In 1997, Council approved 
not to account for the post-employment benefit liability (C-M(97)85) regarding defined 
benefit schemes. With the subsequent Council decision to implement IPSAS and the 
following Council approval of the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether 
the Council decision not to account for the post-employment benefit liability still applies. 
This is especially the case given that the NATO Accounting Framework does not include 
an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does it refer to this Council decision. The actuarial net 
present value of the long-term post-employment medical care obligation at the end of year 
2019 was EUR 3.4 billion. IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of addressing 
this recommendation in a timely manner.
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Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
Daniela Morgante  
Chair 

 
 
 
 
Attachments: As stated above. 
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Summary Note for Council 
by the International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) 

on the audit of the Financial Statements of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF)  

for the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
The NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF) was set up with effect from 
1 January 2001 pursuant to Council approval of PO(2000)123. The purpose was to 
establish a reserve to ensure that sufficient funds are available for the years to come 
to enable NATO to meet its obligations to pay the medical expenses of eligible retired 
staff members and their recognised dependants. 
 
The fund has a Supervisory Committee established to oversee the management of the 
fund. The Committee meets at least twice a year.   
 
In 2019, contributions from NATO Reporting Entities and staff were EUR 26.5 million 
(in 2018, EUR 25 million). Insurance premiums paid out of these receipts were 
EUR 26.9 million in 2019 (EUR 23.5 million in 2018).  At the end of 2019, the fund 
manager held EUR 369.9 million on behalf of NATO (at the end of 2018, EUR 314.6 
million).  
 
IBAN issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and on compliance 
for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
During the audit, IBAN made one observation which does not impact the audit opinion: 
 

1. Improvements needed in the process of confirming contributions made to the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (NATO RMCF). 

 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from previous years’ audits and found 
that one was in progress and one remains open.  
 
IBAN would like in particular to draw your attention to the prior years’ observation on 
the need for NATO as a whole to disclose post-employment liabilities to comply with 
the NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits). In 1997, Council 
approved not to account for the post-employment benefit liability (C-M(97)85) 
regarding defined benefit schemes. With the subsequent Council decision to 
implement IPSAS and the following Council approval of the NATO Accounting 
Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether the Council decision not to account for the 
post-employment benefit liability still applies. This is especially the case given that the 
NATO Accounting Framework does not include an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does 
it refer to this Council decision. The actuarial net present value of the long-term post-
employment medical care obligation at the end of year 2019 was EUR 3.4 billion (at 
the end of 2018, EUR 3 billion). IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of 
addressing this recommendation in a timely manner. 
 
The Auditor’s Report and the Letter of Observations and Recommendations were 
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issued to the International Staff whose comments have been included, with the IBAN’s 
position on those comments where necessary, see the Appendix to Annex 3.  
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4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF  
THE NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 

 (RMCF) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE NORTH ATLANTIC COUNCIL 

 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) has audited the Financial 
Statements of the NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund (RMCF), for the 12 month 
period ended 31 December 2019, issued and submitted to IBAN on 21 April 2020. 
These Financial Statements comprise the Statement of Net Assets Available for 
Benefits as at 31 December 2019, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available 
for Benefits for the period ended 31 December 2019 and the Explanatory Notes, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Statement of 
Net Assets Available for Benefits of the NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund as at 31 
December 2019, and of its Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits 
for the period ended 31 December 2019, in accordance with accounting requirements 
and reporting standards consistent with the NATO Accounting Framework (NAF) and 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement 
Benefit Plans.  
 
Basis for Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), external audit of the NATO 
bodies and reporting entities pursuant to the North Atlantic Treaty shall be performed 
by IBAN.  
 
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards of 
Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 2200-2899) developed by the International 
Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance with the 
additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We are independent in accordance with the INTOSAI Code of Ethics and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The 
responsibilities of the members of IBAN are more extensively described in the 
section «Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements» and in 
our Charter. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements is laid down in the NFRs. The 
Financial Statements of the NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund are drawn up in 
accordance with accounting requirements and reporting standards consistent with the 
NATO Accounting Framework as approved by the Council and International Accounting 
Standard (IAS) 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans. The 
Financial Controller is responsible for submitting the Financial Statements for audit to 
IBAN not later than 31st March following the end of the financial year. 
 
The Financial Statements are signed by the Head of the NATO reporting entity and the 
Financial Controller. In signing the Financial Statements, the Head of the NATO 
reporting entity and the Financial Controller confirm the establishment and maintenance 
of financial governance, resource management practices, internal controls and financial 
information systems to achieve the efficient and effective use of resources.  
 
This confirmation covers the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are 
auditable and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. This also 
covers reporting on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there are plans to liquidate the entity or to cease its operations, or 
there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
The objectives of the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes an opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the 
audit. This involves taking into account Considerations Specific to Public Sector 
Entities. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
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omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

We are required to communicate with the bodies charged with governance, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
Our Independent External Auditor’s Report is prepared to assist North Atlantic Council 
in carrying out its role. We are therefore responsible solely to the North Atlantic Council 
for our work and the opinion we have formed.  
 
Report on Compliance 
 
Opinion on Compliance 
 
Based on the procedures we performed, nothing has come to our attention, as part of 
our audit of the Financial Statements that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the NATO Financial Regulations and the NATO Civilian Personnel 
Regulations. 
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Basis for Opinion on Compliance 
 
We have conducted our compliance audit in accordance with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI 4000-4899) developed by the 
International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) and in accordance 
with the additional terms of reference defined in our Charter.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Compliance 
 
All NATO staff, military and civilian, are obligated to comply with the NATO Financial 
Regulations, associated Financial Rules and Procedures and internal implementing 
directives. These include the NATO Civilian Personnel Regulations. 
 
The Secretary General is responsible and accountable for sound financial 
management. The financial administration of NATO bodies and reporting entities must 
incorporate the principles of propriety, sound governance, accountability, transparency, 
risk management and internal control, internal audit, external audit, and fraud 
prevention and detection. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for Compliance 
 
In addition to the responsibility to provide reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, the IBAN Charter 
requires IBAN to provide independent assurance and report annually to the North 
Atlantic Council about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of 
authorised expenditure (propriety) and are in compliance with the regulations in force 
(regularity). Propriety relates to the observance of the general principles governing 
sound financial management and the conduct of public officials. Regularity concerns 
the adherence to formal criteria such as relevant regulations, rules and procedures. 
 
This responsibility includes performing procedures to obtain independent assurance 
about whether funds have been properly used for the settlement of authorized 
expenditure and whether they have been used in compliance with the regulations in 
force. Such procedures include consideration of the risks of material non-compliance. 
 

Brussels, 4 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
Daniela Morgante 
Chair 
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4 June 2021 
 
 
  
 
 

INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS FOR NATO 
 
 
 

LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

FOR THE NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
 

(RMCF) 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
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Introduction 
 
The International Board of Auditors for NATO (IBAN) audited the NATO Retirees 
Medical Claims Fund Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
and issued an unqualified opinion on the Financial Statements and an unqualified 
opinion on compliance.  
 
Observations and Recommendations: 
 
During the audit, IBAN made one observation and recommendation.   
 
This observation does not impact the audit opinion on the financial statements and on 
compliance: 
 

1. Improvements needed in the process of confirming contributions made to the 

RMCF Fund. 

IBAN followed up on the status of observations and recommendations from the 
previous years’ audits and found that one remains open and one is in progress.   
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OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. IMPROVEMENTS NEEDED IN THE PROCESS OF CONFIRMING 

CONTRIBUTIONS MADE TO THE NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS 
FUND (NATO RMCF) 

 
Reasoning  
 
1.1 As per the NATO Financial Regulations (NFRs), Article 6, the Heads of NATO 
bodies shall have a Financial Controller on their staffs to be their principal financial 
advisor and who exercises in their names responsibilities for, but not limited to: 

a) the budgeting, accounting and reporting activities of the NATO body; […] 
b) the responsibility for the organisation and administration of the financial 

internal control system established pursuant to article 12.1. 
 
1.2 The reliability of audit evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature, 
and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained. 
Accordingly and in line with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAIs), audit evidence in the form of external confirmations received from confirming 
parties is more reliable than evidence generated internally by the entity.  
 
Observations 
 
1.3 IBAN tested the contributions received in the course of 2019 from the 
contributing NATO Reporting Entities to the NATO RMCF. As a standard procedure, 
NATO IS requires the contributing entities to provide a confirmation of the amounts 
paid to the Fund and recorded in the accounting system (this confirmation is usually 
obtained in the form of an e-mail). For 2019, the formal confirmation requests were 
sent out by NATO IS to all the concerned NATO entities. IBAN found that for 2019: 
 

• Despite several reminders, not all the contributing NATO Reporting Entities 
confirmed their balances paid to the NATO RMCF. Out of EUR 26.49 million 
contributions for the year, EUR 10.6 million were not confirmed. The main 
purpose of such confirmations is to provide assurance of the completeness and 
accuracy of the contributions received. 

 
• There were some immaterial differences in booking the contributions received 

from other NATO entities, mainly resulting from corrections or partial payments 
booked in another client fund/general ledger account. 

 
Recommendations 
 
1.4  IBAN recommends that IS OFC ensure that: 
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a) Year-end confirmations are initiated early the following year in order to ensure 
that all the NATO contributing entities to the NATO RMCF provide their 
responses in a timely manner. 
 

b) A reconciliation is performed between contributions received and the records 
in the accounting system. 
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FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
IBAN followed up on the status of observations from the previous years’ audit. The 
observations, actions taken by the auditee as reviewed by IBAN, and their status are 
summarised in the table below. 
 
The Open status is used for recommendations that are open and for which no notable 
progress has been achieved to date. The In-progress status is used for open 
recommendations when the NATO Reporting Entity has started to implement the 
recommendation or when some (but not all) sub-recommendations are closed. The 
Closed status is used for recommendations that are closed because they have been 
implemented, are superseded, or have lapsed. In the case where there are sub-
recommendations, the status related to each sub-recommendation is indicated in the 
Action Taken column. 

 

OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

(1) RMCF FY 2018  
IBA-AR(2019)0026, paragraph 1 
 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO 
DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE 
NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK 
(IPSAS 39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS)  
 
IBAN’s Recommendation 
IBAN recommends that the IS OFC, being 
the Financial Controller of the RMCF, 
define the recognition criteria for the post-
employment liability, ensuring that this 
liability is recognised in accordance with the 
NATO Accounting Framework (IPSAS 39 
Employee Benefits). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Financial Statements of the NATO 
Coordinated Pension Scheme and of the 
NATO Retirees Medical Claims Fund 
disclose in Note 3, the post-employment 
benefits, calculated in line with IPSAS 39 
by the International Service for 
Remunerations and Pensions’ (ISRP) 
actuary.  
 
However, the post-employment liabilities 
have not been recognised on the face of 
any NATO Reporting Entity Statement of 
Financial Position, which in overall terms 
is not compliant with IPSAS 39, part of the 
NATO Accounting Framework.  
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
Open. 
 
 
 

(2) RMCF FY 2012  
IBA-AR(2013)25, paragraph 5 
 
RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
(RMCF) NET ASSETS INADEQUATE TO 
FUND PROMISED FUTURE EXPECTED 
BENEFITS  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Observation 
In-progress. 
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OBSERVATION / RECOMMENDATION 
ACTION TAKEN 

BY AUDITEE 
STATUS 

IBAN’s Recommendation 
The Board draws the attention of the 
Council that there are currently not 
sufficient funds available to enable NATO to 
meet its promised future obligations as was 
the intention of the plan, and recommends 
that, as was proposed in SG(2009)0302, on 
the basis of the results of the asset and 
liability study presented in the December 
2012 Supervisory Committee and the 
related final report issued dated 30 April 
2013, that the IS provides an estimate of 
the minimum financial injection necessary 
to make the RMCF sustainable.  
 
The Board recommends also that the IS 
provides all necessary information and any 
remedial actions undertaken to limit the 
level of obligations.  This should be 
presented to the nations as soon as 
possible in order to allow for appropriate 
remedial actions, where still feasible, to be 
made. 

 
As forecasted by the current actuarial 
study, 2019 was the first year when the 
contributions received during the year 
(EUR 26.476 million) were lower than the 
costs (Insurance Premiums and 
Management Fee, amounting to 
EUR 28.521 million). Despite this, in 2019 
there was an overall net increase in the 
net assets available for benefits, mainly 
due to the net unrealised gain in the 
market value of investments (EUR 54.789 
million). Therefore, NATO IS plans to 
request a new study in order to provide 
NATO Member Nations the updated long 
term sustainability forecast. 
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NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND (RMCF)  
FORMAL COMMENTS 

ON THE LETTER OF OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS AND  
THE INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF AUDITORS (IBAN) POSITIONS 

 
OBSERVATION 1: 
IMPROVEMENTS NEEDED IN THE PROCESS OF CONFIRMING 
CONTRIBUTIONS MADE TO THE NATO RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND 
(NATO RMCF) 
 

RMCF’s Formal Comments 
  

Agreed.  
 
OFC constantly works on improving their internal control arrangements. In the 
pursuit for optimal efficiency of the implemented mechanisms, the IS decided 
to start using COSO as a reference internal control framework and to revise 
the control processes in use. Possible improvements to the reconciliation 
process will be analyzed. 

 

 
FOLLOW-UP OF PREVIOUS YEARS’ OBSERVATIONS 
 
(1) RMCF 2018 FY  
IBA-AR(2019)0026, paragraph 1 
NEED FOR NATO AS A WHOLE TO DISCLOSE POST-EMPLOYMENT 
LIABILITIES TO COMPLY WITH THE NATO ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK (IPSAS 
39 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS) 
 

RMCF’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The analysis of the applicability of IPSAS 39 is ongoing. 
 

IBAN’s position 
 
In 1997, Council approved not to account for the post-employment benefit 
liability (C-M(97)85) regarding defined benefit schemes. With the subsequent 
Council decision to implement IPSAS and the following Council approval of the 
NATO Accounting Framework (NAF), it is unclear whether the Council decision 
not to account for the post-employment benefit liability still applies. This is 
especially the case given that the NATO Accounting Framework does not 
include an adaptation to IPSAS 39, nor does it refer to this Council decision. 
IBAN therefore wishes to stress the importance of addressing this 
recommendation in a timely manner. 
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(2) RMCF 2012 FY  
IBA-AR(2013)25, paragraph 5 
RETIREES MEDICAL CLAIMS FUND (RMCF) NET ASSETS INADEQUATE TO 
FUND PROMISED FUTURE EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
RMCF’s Formal Comments 
 

Agreed.  
 
The updated long term sustainability forecast will be delivered to nations at 
the earliest possibility. 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
In accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(ISSAI 2705), audit opinions on financial statements and on compliance can be 
unqualified, qualified, a disclaimer, or adverse: 
 

 An unqualified opinion is when IBAN issues an opinion that the financial 
statements and budget execution report are stated fairly and that nothing has 
come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not been 
properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 
 

 A qualified opinion means that IBAN was generally satisfied with the 
presentation of the financial statements, but that some key elements of the 
statements were not fairly stated or affected by a scope limitation, or specific 
issues have come to our attention that causes us to believe that funds have not 
been properly used for the settlement of authorised expenditure or are not in 
compliance with the rules and regulations. 

 

 A disclaimer is issued when the audit scope is severely limited and IBAN cannot 
express an opinion, or when there are material uncertainties affecting the 
financial statements or the use of funds. 

 

 An adverse opinion is issued when the effect of an error or disagreement is so 
pervasive and material to the financial statements that IBAN concludes that a 
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or 
incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

 

In accordance with auditing standards, three types of paragraphs may also be 
communicated in the auditor’s report: 
 

 Key Audit Matters (ISSAI 2701): Those matters that, in IBAN’s professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period. Key Audit Matters are addressed to Council. 

 

 Emphasis of Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to draw users’ 
attention to a matter presented or disclosed in the financial statements that, in 
our judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’ 
understanding of the financial statements; we will include an Emphasis of 
Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report provided. 

 

 Other Matter (ISSAI 2706): If IBAN considers it necessary to communicate a 
matter other than those that are presented or disclosed in the financial 
statements that, in our judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the 
audit, the auditor’s responsibilities or the auditor’s report; we will include an 
Other Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report. 
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